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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

     Petitioner is an Orthodox Jew who was employed 

by the Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

(“MWAA”), a quasi-governmental agency that 

administers Ronald Reagan Washington National 

Airport and Washington Dulles International 

Airport. She was punished by the MWAA when she 

took annual leave to observe two days of the 

Passover holiday in 2013 after, pursuant to the 

MWAA’s “Absence and Leave Program,” she had 

requested and received a supervisor’s e-mailed 

approval to be absent on those days. She sued the 

MWAA (i) under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act for 

employment discrimination, (ii) under 42 U.S.C. § 

1983 for denying her federally protected civil rights, 

and (iii) under the federal Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act (42 U.S.C. § 2000bb) and the 

Virginia Religious Freedom Restoration Act (Va. 

Code Ann. § 57-2.02(B)) for substantially burdening 

her exercise of the Jewish religion. The district court 

and the Fourth Circuit rejected all her claims before 

trial and granted summary judgment to the MWAA. 

The Questions Presented are:  

     1. Whether the statute of limitations on an 

employee’s Section 1983 claim against an employer 

is equitably tolled during the time that the 

employee’s discrimination claim is pending before 

the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

(“EEOC”).    

     2. Whether the MWAA, which was created by 

federal statute and has a Board of Directors that is 

appointed by the President of the United States, the 

Governors of Virginia and Maryland, and the Mayor 
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of the District of Columbia, is subject to the federal 

and/or Virginia Religious Freedom Restoration Acts. 

     3. Whether the factually erroneous ruling of the 

Fourth Circuit should be summarily reversed 

because, if it is permitted to stand, it will create an 

easy loophole for employers to evade the “reasonable 

accommodation for religious observance” 

requirement of Section 701(j) of the Civil Rights Act 

(42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j)). 
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OPINIONS BELOW 

     The unpublished opinion of the court of appeals in 

Abeles v. Metropolitan Washington Airports 
Authority, can be found at 2017 WL 374741 (4th Cir. 

Jan. 26, 2017) (Pet. App. A, pp. 1a-17a, infra). The 

opinion of the district court in Abeles v. Metropolitan 
Washington Airports Authority, can be found at 

2016 WL 6892103 (E.D. Va. April 1, 2016) (Pet. App. 

B, pp. 18a-30a, infra).    

JURISDICTION 

     The judgment of the court of appeals was issued 

on January 26, 2017.  On February 23, 2017, the 

court of appeals denied a timely petition for 

rehearing and for rehearing en banc (Pet. App. C, p. 

31a, infra). On May 4, 2017, the Chief Justice 

granted an extension of time to July 23, 2017, within 

which to file a petition for a writ of certiorari (Pet. 

App. D, p. 32a, infra). This Court has jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1254(1). 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 

PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

      Section 701(j) of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 

amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j); Section 1983 of Title 

42 of the United States Code; and the Religious 

Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. 2000bb, et seq., 
appear in Appendix F, pp. 34a-37a, infra. 

INTRODUCTION 

     The Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

(“MWAA”) punished petitioner because she took 

annual leave to observe Passover after she had 

received her second-level supervisor’s e-mailed 

consent – sent on the last work-day before the 
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holiday – to be absent. This exchange of e-mails 

complied literally and substantively with MWAA’s 

“Absence and Leave Program.” (The relevant 

language of the “Absence and Leave Program” 

appears in Pet. App. E, p. 33a, infra.) 

     Ruling in MWAA’s favor just 16 days before a 

scheduled jury trial, the district judge made several 

findings on disputed factual issues and ignored 

MWAA’s statutory duty under the Civil Rights Act to 

make reasonable accommodation for petitioner’s 

religious observance. The Fourth Circuit’s 

“unpublished” opinion misstated the facts of the case 

in affirming the district court’s decision.  The Fourth 

Circuit’s decision not only works an enormous 

injustice in this particular case but grants employers 

an easy route to evade the statutory obligation under 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act to make a 

“reasonable accommodation” for the religious 

observances of employees. 

     Petitioner’s complaint alleged that MWAA had (i) 

violated the statutory “reasonable accommodation” 

obligation imposed by 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-2(a)(1) and 

2000e(j), (ii) denied  petitioner’s civil rights, which is 

actionable under 42 U.S.C. §1983, and (iii) violated 

the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”) by 

substantially burdening petitioner’s ability to 

practice her Jewish faith, and (iv) violated Virginia’s 

RFRA. 

     The Fourth Circuit’s decision – based on 

demonstrably erroneous factual assertions – is 

patently unjust and wrong. The court of appeals 

misrepresented the relevant facts and aborted 

petitioner’s valid claim on its mischaracterization of 
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the facts. This Court does not, we acknowledge, 

grant certiorari to correct improper results in 

particular cases. E.g., Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 

616-617 (1974); Shapiro, Geller, Bishop, Hartnett & 

Himmelfarb, Supreme Court Practice 278-282 (10th 

ed. 2013). Accordingly, we emphasize in this Petition 

issues of law that the court of appeals treated 

cavalierly (and erroneously) which are significant 

and warrant plenary consideration by this Court, as 

well as urging summary reversal. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

     MWAA supervisors (respondents Valerie O’Hara 

and Julia Hodge) were relatively new personnel who 

were assigned to supervise petitioner Susan Abeles 

in 2011 and 2012. They did not like petitioner and 

made false allegations that she was “insubordinate.” 

They knew that petitioner, who worked at MWAA 

since 1987, was an Orthodox Jew. They were 

informed by her, long in advance, that April 1 and 2, 

2013, were days that petitioner would take as 

annual leave because those days were Passover, a 

universally recognized Jewish religious holiday. 

They took advantage of petitioner’s religious 

observance to punish her and force her into early 

retirement.  

     At the request of respondent Hodge, petitioner 

listed all Jewish holidays during the calendar year 

2013 on a “LiveLink” calendar at the beginning of 

the year. Petitioner again listed the Passover 
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holidays, at Ms. Hodges’ request, in March 2013 on 

her supervisors’ “Outlook” calendar. JA 113, 448.1 

     Petitioner’s immediate supervisor (respondent 

Valerie O’Hara), who had supervisory responsibility 

over no one else, was unexpectedly out on annual 

leave on the Friday before the last two days of 

Passover. So petitioner could not – as she had done 

before the first two days of Passover – remind her 

immediate supervisor orally that she would be 

absent for the religious observance. Petitioner sent 

an e-mail before noon on that Friday to both Ms. 

Hodge and Ms. O’Hara advising them that she would 

be on annual leave on the following Monday and 

Tuesday. Ms. O’Hara, being on leave, did not 

respond. Ms. Hodge, working from home, asked, 

“What is the nature of this leave request?” Petitioner 

responded, “This is a reminder of my scheduled leave 

for Passover.” Ms. Hodge replied, “Thanks. Please 

see my note about providing us a status update 

before you leave today.” JA 113-114; Plaintiff’s Ex. 

No. 95 – JA 5, D.E. 57-1. Petitioner provided the 

“status update.” 

     When she returned after the Passover holiday, 

petitioner discovered that her absence was changed 

from “annual leave” to “AWOL” so that she was not 

paid for April 1 and 2. Petitioner protested with an 

e-mail that stated, once again, that she had been 

absent for a religious holiday, that she had notified 

her supervisors several times of the dates of the 

religious holiday and the reason for the absence, and 

that this was the procedure she had followed “from 

                                                 
1 “JA” designates the Joint Appendix filed in the lower court in 

this case. 
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day one in this office.” MWAA’s response – approved 

by its Vice-President for Finance and Chief Financial 

Officer – was to suspend her without pay for an 

additional 5 days for “failure to follow leave 

procedures” and being “absent without leave” as well 

as an “insubordination” allegation that she 

contested. 

     Without permitting a jury to hear from live 

witnesses, the district judge accepted MWAA’s 

contention that plaintiff was disciplined for having 

failed to comply with MWAA’s “Absence and Leave 

Program.” JA 508, 516. In fact, petitioner had 

complied fully with MWAA’s requirement that there 

be “an exchange of e-mails between the employee 

and supervisor” before an employee takes annual 

leave. (The “Absence and Leave Program” does not 

require that the “supervisor” be a first-level 

supervisor.) Nor, indeed, had the written “Absence 

and Leave Program” procedure actually been 

demanded of petitioner during the 26 years that 

petitioner had worked at MWAA. MWAA could not, 

under Section 701(j) of the Civil Rights Act, lawfully 

deny an employee earned annual leave for a 

religious holiday. Hence advance notification of the 

date of the holiday had been adequate.  

1. Petitioner’s Employment at MWAA 

     Susan Abeles was employed by MWAA as a 

federal worker from the time that the airports were 

owned and operated by the Federal Aviation 

Administration, and she continued in that 

employment when MWAA became an independent 

quasi-governmental entity. Petitioner’s job was to 

produce a high-profile monthly Air Traffic Statistics 
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report regarding Reagan National and Dulles 

Airports that was on the Authority Board’s meeting 

agenda and was provided to the highest-ranking 

officers of MWAA. Her air-traffic statistics were also 

used by the media and reported in newspapers and 

on the radio. JA 430-431.  

2. Petitioner’s Religious Observance 

     It was well-known at MWAA that petitioner is a 

practicing Orthodox Jew. Ever since she began 

working at the agency that ultimately became 

MWAA she did not work on Jewish religious 

holidays. She also left work early on Fridays in order 

to be home before the Sabbath. JA 431. 

     From the time she began at MWAA, petitioner 

specified, at or about the first quarter of each 

calendar year, the Jewish religious holidays on 

which she could not, because of her religious 

observance, report for work. Fellow employees and 

her supervisors at MWAA knew that the days that 

she identified in this manner were days that 

petitioner would be absent on annual leave. JA 431. 

3. Petitioner Lists Jewish Religious Holidays 

     During a staff meeting in January 2013, Ms. 

Hodge asked the five employees of MWAA whom she 

was supervising to designate the days they were 

planning to take as leave on her department’s 

“LiveLink” calendar.  She said to petitioner, “Susan, 

put down the holidays” for 2013 on the “LiveLink” 

calendar. Pursuant to this request by her supervisor, 

petitioner designated all the Jewish religious 

holidays that would be celebrated in 2013 on the 

department’s “LiveLink” calendar. Among the dates 

so designated were April 1 and 2, 2013, which were 
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the last two days of Passover. Respondent Hodge 

repeated this request in March 2013. Petitioner 

again listed the dates of the Passover holidays on the 

Outlook calendars of Ms. Hodge and Ms. O’Hara. JA 

112-113, 448. 

4. Petitioner Identifies the Last Days of Passover 

     April 1 and 2, 2013, were Monday and Tuesday. 

On Friday, March 29, 2013, immediately preceding 

the specified Monday and Tuesday, respondent 

O’Hara was out of the office on annual leave. Ms. 

O’Hara had not informed petitioner (her only 

subordinate) that she would not be in the office. 

Respondent Hodge was working at home on a flex-

time schedule. At 11:59 am on Friday, March 29, 

2013, petitioner sent the following calendar e-mail to 

Ms. Hodge and Ms. O’Hara (Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 

94 – JA 5, D.E. 57-1): 

 

From: Abeles, Susan 

Sent: Friday, March 29, 2013 11:59 AM 

To: O’Hara, Valerie; Hodge, Julia 

Subject: SA-AL 

When: Monday, April 01, 2013, 12:00 AM to 

Wednesday, April 03, 2013, 12:00 AM 

Where: 

 

When: Monday, April 01, 2013 12:00 AM to 

Wednesday, April 03, 2013 12:00 AM  

(UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 

 

Note: the GMT offset above does not reflect 

daylight saving time adjustments. 
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     Valerie O’Hara did not respond, but six minutes 

later Ms. Hodge sent the following e-mail to 

petitioner (Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 94 – JA 5, D.E. 57-

1): 

From: Hodge, Julia 

Sent: Friday, March 29, 2013 12:05 PM 

To: Abeles, Susan; O’Hara, Valerie  

Subject: RE: SA-AL 

Susan, 

What is the nature of this leave request? 

Thanks,  

Julia 

 

     Petitioner responded to Julia Hodge’s e-mail as 

follows (Plaintiff’s Exhibit No.  95 – JA 5, D.E. 57-1): 

From: Abeles, Susan 

Sent: Friday, March 29, 2013 12:11 PM 

To: Hodge, Julia; O’Hara, Valerie 

Subject: RE: SA-AL 

 

This is a reminder of my scheduled leave for 

Passover. 

 

     Ms. Hodge replied (Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 95 - JA 

5, D.E. 57-1): 

 

From: Hodge, Julia 

Sent: Friday, March 29, 2013 12:16 PM 

To: Abeles, Susan; O’Hara, Valerie 

Subject: RE: SA-AL 

 

Thanks. Please see my note about providing us a 

status update before you leave today. 
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5. Petitioner’s Absence Is Classified “AWOL” 

     Petitioner provided the “status update” on Friday. 

She then observed the last days of the Passover 

holiday on April 1 and 2, 2013, and was not at work 

on that religious holiday. Neither Ms. O’Hara nor 

Ms. Hodge called her at home to find out why she 

was not at work.  

     Petitioner’s uncle died on April 2, and petitioner 

called Ms. O’Hara at about 6:30 am on Wednesday, 

April 3, because that was the time that Ms. O’Hara 

was scheduled to arrive for work. Petitioner left a 

voice-message at about 6:40 am concerning the death 

in her family and requesting annual leave for that 

day. When petitioner returned to her office on 

Thursday, April 4, 2013, she was notified that her 

absence on April 1 and 2 would be classified as 

“AWOL” (“Absent Without Leave”). She replied to 

this news with the following e-mail (Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit No. 102 - JA 5, D.E. 57-1): 

From: Abeles, Susan 

Sent: Thursday, April 04, 2013 9:31 AM 

To: O’Hara, Valerie 

Cc:  Hodge, Julia; Ramos, Juan 

Subject: RE: SA-AL 

 

Tracking: Recipient 

Read 

O’Hara, Valerie 

Hodge, Julia      

Read: 4/4/2013 9:59 AM 

Ramos, Juan 

 

Val: 
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You got it wrong because my Annual Leave for 

Monday and Tuesday, April 1st and April 2nd, 

which was on the MA-26 Leave Calendar, was for 

the last two days of Passover that Orthodox Jews 

observe. As you are aware, when it comes to my 

Jewish Holidays, the Authority has granted me 

religious accommodation to take leave on those 

holidays and I have been following the MA-26 

Office protocol regarding my Jewish Holidays 

from day one in this office by recording all my 

Jewish Holidays up front for the entire year. You 

and Julia explicitly requested me to do just that 

for CY 2013 and I did. I simply sent you and Julia 

a meeting request to remind you both of the 

scheduled annual leave for this past Monday and 

Tuesday, so it would be on the calendar as you 

and Julia requested on March 21 for my Jewish 

Holiday scheduled leave on March 25 through 

March 27. 

 

FYI, I left you a voice message at 6:40 AM, not 

6:30 AM, to notify you of my Uncle’s death and to 

take annual leave to be with my family. 

 

Susan 

6. MWAA Suspends Petitioner Without Pay 

      Not satisfied with classifying her absence as 

“AWOL” (which was, itself, a violation of MWAA’s 

duty under Section 701(j) of the Civil Rights Act to 

make reasonable accommodation for an employee’s 

“religious observance and practice”), Mss. O’Hara 

and Hodge, on the recommendation of HR staff 

member Juan Ramos, determined to suspend 

petitioner for having failed to come to work on her 
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religious holiday. They drafted, for transmission to 

her, a 3-day suspension letter based entirely and 

exclusively on her alleged violation of MWAA’s leave 

policy and being “AWOL” on April 1 and 2, 2013, 

even though they knew that she had been absent 

because of religious observance. MWAA 

acknowledged that the text of that letter was 

authentic but characterized it in discovery as 

“immaterial and irrelevant.” JA 434, 469. 

7. Petitioner’s Suspension Is Enlarged to 5 Days 

     Several days later, petitioner’s supervisors and 

HR staff expanded the suspension period to 5 days 

and included, in a second suspension letter, 

allegations that petitioner had been guilty of 

“insubordination.”2 JA 364-366. 

8. The “Insubordination” Charges Were False 

     Petitioner had received “successful ratings” on 

her performance, had often been rated as “‘far 

exceeding’ expectations,” and had been given “I 

Made a Difference” awards for her performance. JA 

431, 465.  Petitioner declared in her “Statement of 

Undisputed Material Facts” that “[b]eginning in late 

2012, Ms. O’Hara and Ms. Hodge began making 

unjustified criticisms” of her performance on her 

2012 performance evaluation. JA 432. When 

petitioner responded to these unjustified criticisms, 

her supervisors retaliated by harassing her over 

inconsequential subjects such as whether she 

                                                 
2 As demonstrated in her attorney’s letter (Plaintiff Exhibit 

166) – rejected by MWAA because a request for a one-day 

extension was submitted several minutes late – petitioner was 

not insubordinate. 
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arrived at work at precisely 9:00 am or at 9:15 am. 

Ms. O’Hara scheduled weekly meetings with 

petitioner for 9:00 am – the exact time petitioner 

was scheduled to arrive at the office via public 

transportation – so that petitioner would 

humiliatingly have to request time to visit the 

restroom when she arrived at work. JA 432.    

     The 2013 hostility to petitioner and her religious 

observance shown by Mss. Hodge and O’Hara and by 

the HR staff of MWAA, including Juan Ramos and 

his supervisor Robin Wade, was endorsed by 

MWAA’s top management when Andrew Rountree, 

MWAA’s Vice President for Finance and Chief 

Financial Officer, approved their religious 

discrimination by signing his consent to the 2-day 

denial of pay for being “AWOL” and the 5-day 

suspension without pay. This hostile environment, 

which disparaged her religious observance by 

treating the observance of Passover as “AWOL” and 

penalized petitioner severely for observing Passover, 

left petitioner no choice other than to take early 

retirement. Petitioner declared in an affidavit that 

she had planned to continue at her MWAA job “as 

long as I was physically able to do so.” She observed 

that one MWAA employee “continued to work there 

into her eighties.” JA 451. 

9. Petitioner Files an EEOC Complaint 

     On September 17, 2013, petitioner filed a 

complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission alleging religious discrimination. She 

received a right-to-sue letter on February 7, 2015, 

and filed suit in the District Court for the District of 
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Columbia (because the mailing address of MWAA is 

“Washington, D.C.”)  on May 5, 2015. JA 1, 11, 114. 

10. Petitioner’s Suit Is Transferred to Virginia 

     MWAA moved to dismiss or transfer the case to 

the Eastern District of Virginia. JA 15-16. On 

reviewing existing case-law regarding MWAA’s legal 

residence, petitioner’s counsel consented to the 

transfer. JA 76-77. The case was assigned to United 

States District Judge Claude M. Hilton. 

11. Hodge and O’Hara Are Dismissed as Defendants 

     MWAA moved in the Eastern District of Virginia 

to dismiss the complaint. JA 78, 81. Judge Hilton 

denied the dismissal motion with respect to MWAA, 

but ordered that Hodge and O’Hara be dismissed as 

defendants because “individual supervisors may not 

be sued personally when they are carrying out 

personnel decisions of a plainly delegable character.” 

JA 107. 

12. Judge Hilton Grants Summary Judgment 

     Discovery included the depositions of the plaintiff, 

her sister, Mss. Hodge and O’Hara, and HR 

personnel of MWAA. Witness and exhibit lists were 

filed. A “final pretrial conference” was held on 

February 18, 2016, and a jury trial was set for 

March 30, 2016. JA 4.  

    On February 26, 2016, MWAA filed a motion for 

summary judgment which, with attachments, was 

almost 300 pages. JA 119-416. Judge Hilton set a 

hearing on the motion for March 11. JA 5. 

Petitioner’s response to the motion, her response to 

the respondents’ Statement of Undisputed Material 

Facts, her Statement of Undisputed Material Facts, 
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and her Affidavit were filed on March 8, 2016. JA 

417-457.  

    Without hearing oral argument, Judge Hilton filed 

an order on March 14, 2016, granting MWAA’s 

motion for summary judgment on all four claims and 

striking the case from the trial docket. JA 5, 504. 

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal on March 25, 

2016. JA 505-506.  

     On April 1, 2016 – more than two weeks after his 

peremptory summary-judgment order that cancelled 

the scheduled trial – Judge Hilton filed a 

Memorandum Opinion. JA 507-520. The opinion did 

not mention petitioner’s claim that MWAA violated 

Section 701(j) of the Civil Rights Act by failing to 

reasonably accommodate petitioner’s religious 

observance. It denied relief under Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act because, in the District Judge’s 

view, the plaintiff “cannot demonstrate satisfactory 

job performance or that she was treated differently 

from similarly situated employees outside the 

protected class.” JA 514. 

13. The Fourth Circuit Affirms 

     The court of appeals affirmed the entry of 

summary judgment for MWAA. 

     1. With regard to the Civil Rights Act failure-to-

accommodate claim, the court’s opinion said that 

there was no “religious conflict with an employment 

requirement” (Pet. App. A, p. 14a, infra). Contrary to 

indisputable evidence the opinion declared that 

petitioner “failed to obtain advance approval for her 

absence on April 1 and 2.” Id. 
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     2. With regard to the Section 1983 claim, the 

court held that petitioner’s Section 1983 claim was 

barred by Virginia’s two-year statute of limitations 

because the claim “accrued on May 3, 2013, when 

her disciplinary action became final.” (Pet. App. A, p. 

16a, infra). The court rejected petitioner’s contention 

that the statute of limitations was tolled “while her 

claim was pending before the EEOC.” Id., n. 10. On 

this ground the Fourth Circuit also affirmed 

dismissal of the Section 1983 claim against the 

individual supervisors. (Pet. App. A, p. 16a, n.9, 

infra). 

     3. With regard to the federal and Virginia 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act claims, the court 

refused to decide whether either statute applied to 

MWAA because of its factual finding that “MWAA 

did not discriminate against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her religion.” (Pet. App. A, p. 8a, n. 4, infra).  

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

I. 

THE FOURTH CIRCUIT’S HOLDING THAT 

PETITIONER’S SECTION 1983 CLAIM WAS NOT 

TOLLED WHILE HER EEOC PROCEEDING WAS 

PENDING CONFLICTS WITH EQUITABLE 

TOLLING PRINCIPLES APPLIED BY THIS 

COURT AND BY LOWER FEDERAL  

AND STATE COURTS 

     The Fourth Circuit held that petitioner’s Section 

1983 claim was filed too late because she should 

have unilaterally terminated the EEOC process by 

demanding a right-to-sue letter from the EEOC 

when 180 days expired after she filed the EEOC 

charge, and then filed an action under Section 1983 
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within two years of her punishment for religious 

observance. See Pet. App. A, p. 16a, n. 10, infra. 
Imposing such an unrealistic and impractical burden 

on the victim of unconstitutional conduct violates 

principles established by this Court and lower 

federal and state courts regarding (a) equitable 

tolling of statutes of limitations and (b) the accrual 

date for enforcement of rights protected by Section 

1983. 

     The Court should grant this petition in order to 

consider and decide whether a state statute of 

limitations can bar a lawsuit to vindicate federal 

constitutional rights if the victim of unconstitutional 

conduct has initiated an EEOC proceeding within 

the limitations period and the complaint in the 1983 

action is filed promptly and diligently after the 

victim receives a “right-to-sue” letter from the 

EEOC. This is an important legal issue on which the 

Fourth Circuit’s decision conflicts with the tolling 

and accrual-date principles applied by this Court 

and lower federal and state courts. Reversal of the 

Fourth Circuit decision would also require re-

instatement of Mss. Hodge and O’Hara as 

defendants in this case. 

     (a) Equitable tolling – In order to preserve her 

right to initiate a federal employment-discrimination 

lawsuit under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

petitioner was compelled by Section 706 of the Civil 

Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5, to file a charge with 

the EEOC. National RR Passenger Corp. v. Morgan, 

536 U.S. 101, 104-105 (2002); Doski v. M. Goldseker 
Co., 539 F.2d 1326, 1329 (4th Cir. 1976). That 

administrative proceeding expeditiously placed 

MWAA on notice of petitioner’s intention to enforce 
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against MWAA her legal right to be free of religious 

discrimination. Successful resolution of her legal 

claim before the EEOC could have mooted a Section 

1983 claim. It would have been premature for 

petitioner to initiate a Section 1983 lawsuit before 

exhausting the administrative EEOC remedy. 

     A well-established principle of equitable tolling is 

that equity will toll the statute of limitations “when 

an injured person has several legal remedies and, 

reasonably and in good faith, pursues one.” Elkins v. 
Derby, 12 Cal. 3d 410, 414, 525 P.2d 81 (1978); 

Daviton v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 241 

F.3d 1131 (9th Cir. 2001) (en banc). Petitioner was 

engaged in precisely such a course when she began 

and pursued the EEOC proceeding to a conclusion. 

Tolling a statute of limitations while such a 

proceeding runs its course grants good-faith litigants 

their day in court, lessens costs to the courts and 

parties that would result from duplicative 

proceedings, and provides timely notice of 

discrimination claims to defendants. 

     The Fourth Circuit erroneously held that Va. 

Code Ann. § 8.01-229(E)(1) did not toll, for purpose 

of a Section 1983 lawsuit, Virginia’s two-year statute 

of limitations while the plaintiff’s EEOC proceeding 

was pending. In fact, the late District Judge Robert 

R. Merhige, Jr., held that in comparable 

circumstances a Section 1983 action could be 

brought after Virginia’s limitations period had 

expired if the plaintiff had diligently pursued an 

alternative remedy and the defendants “were 

actually served and notified of the need to maintain 

any evidence in their possession within the original 
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two year statutory period.” Clymer v. Grzegorek, 515 

F. Supp. 938, 941 (E.D. Va. 1981).  

     In any event, this Court has applied federal 

equitable tolling principles to prevent “harsh 

consequences” and to preserve statutory federal 

remedies that would be foreclosed if federal or local 

limitations provisions were woodenly applied. See, 

e.g., United States v. Kwai Fun Wong, 135 S. Ct. 

1625, 1632 (2015); Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631 

(2010); Occidental Life Insurance Co. v. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission, 432 U.S. 355 

(1977).  

      In this case (a) petitioner diligently instituted an 

administrative proceeding that is a statutory 

precondition to a damage remedy under Title VII of 

the Civil Rights Act, (b) that proceeding sought relief 

equivalent to petitioner’s potential damage remedy 

under Section 1983, (c) the administrative 

proceeding gave MWAA notice of the nature of 

petitioner’s claim so that it could gather evidence 

and prepare a defense within the limitations period, 

(d) successful conciliation by the EEOC of 

petitioner’s charge would have mooted any Section 

1983 claim, and (e) petitioner proceeded diligently 

after the EEOC proceeding was concluded. In these 

circumstances, “a federal tolling doctrine [is] 

essential to the vindication of federal rights.” Heck v. 
Humphrey, 997 F.2d 355, 358 (7th Cir. 1993) 

(Posner, J.), aff’d, 512 U.S. 477 (1994).   

     (b) Accrual date – This Court held in Wallace v. 
Keto, 549 U.S. 384, 388 (2007), that “the accrual 

date of a § 1983 cause of action is a question of 

federal law that is not resolved by reference to state 
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law.” (Emphasis original.) As recently as Manuel v. 
City of Joliet, Illinois, 137 S. Ct. 911, 920-921 (2017), 

this Court observed that “[i]n defining the contours 

and prerequisites of a § 1983 claim, including its rule 
of accrual, courts are to look first to the common law 

of torts.” (Emphasis added.) The Fourth Circuit 

failed to apply this principle when it barred 

petitioner’s Section 1983 claim as untimely under 

the Virginia statute without considering the 

“common law of torts” or federal policy. 

     Petitioner’s Section 1983 claim accrued when her 

EEOC proceeding terminated and she was given a 

right-to-sue letter. Her constitutional rights under 

the First and Fourteenth Amendments were not 

effectively denied until MWAA contested her 

allegations and refused to conciliate her EEOC 

complaint.  

II. 

THE FOURTH CIRCUIT ERRED IN REFUSING 

TO DECIDE WHETHER MWAA IS SUBJECT TO 

RFRA BECAUSE RFRA’S PROHIBITION 

AGAINST BURDENS ON RELIGIOUS EXERCISE 

IS NOT LIMITED TO INSTANCES OF 

 RELIGIOUS DISCRIMINATION 

     MWAA responded to petitioner’s claim that its 

conduct in punishing petitioner for observing 

Passover violated the federal and Virginia Religious 

Freedom Restoration Acts by asserting that MWAA 

was not subject to either law. See Brief for the 

Appellees, pp. 42-49. Judge Hilton agreed with 

MWAA’s legal argument. See Pet. App. B, pp. 27a-

28a, infra. The district judge held that MWAA “is not 

a branch, department, agency, instrumentality or 
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official of the U.S. Government; nor is [MWAA] part 

of the government of D.C., Puerto Rico or any other 

territory of the United States.” The judge also held 

that the Virginia statute does not apply because 

MWAA is not a “government entity” within the 

meaning of Virginia’s RFRA. 

     The Fourth Circuit refused to decide this 

important legal issue. It said that because “MWAA 

did not discriminate against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her religion in violation of Title VII” it “necessarily 

did not ‘substantially burden’ Plaintiff’s ‘exercise of 

religion’ in violation of the federal and state religious 

freedom acts.” Pet. App. A, p. 8a, n.4, infra.  

     The court of appeals erred in assuming that if a 

defendant’s conduct is not religiously discriminatory 

the conduct does not violate the Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act. RFRA is violated whenever a 

government actor subject to its terms substantially 

burdens the exercise of religion without having a 

compelling governmental interest that is furthered 

by the least restrictive means. 

     This Court’s decisions demonstrate that 

discrimination is not a necessary – or even usual – 

component of a claim under RFRA. In neither of this 

Court’s cases interpreting and enforcing RFRA did 

the defendant engage in any form of religious 

discrimination. Gonzales v. O Centro Espirita 
Beneficente Uniao do Vegetal, 126 S. Ct. 1211 

(2006), concerned the constitutionality of a statutory 

restriction on the importation and use of a narcotic 

plant. The restriction was applied by the United 

States equally and non-discriminatorily to all, 
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including religious observers. This Court found that 

its application to the respondents violated RFRA. 

     Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 

2751 (2014), also concerned the validity under RFRA 

of a regulation that applied non-discriminatorily. 

The absence of religious discrimination did not 

foreclose the RFRA claim that this Court upheld. 

     In applying the Religious Land Use and 

Institutionalized Persons Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc to 

2000cc-5) (“RLUIPA”), which provides statutory 

protection comparable to RFRA, this Court has also 

not made liability turn on whether there has been 

religious discrimination. In Holt v. Hobbs, 135 S. Ct. 

853 (2015), the legal issue decided by this Court was 

whether a prison grooming regulation that applied 
nondiscriminatorily to all prisoners was valid under 

RLUIPA if applied to a religiously observant 

prisoner. The Court invalidated the grooming 

regulation even though it did not discriminate 

against religious prisoners. 

     The Fourth Circuit could not, therefore, avoid 

deciding the legal issue argued by both petitioner 

and MWAA – whether MWAA is subject to the 

federal and/or Virginia Religious Freedom 

Restoration Acts. Petitioner’s position on this 

significant legal issue was concisely summarized in 

the amicus curiae brief filed in the Fourth Circuit by 

the American Jewish Committee and the Becket 

Fund for Religious Liberty: 

The Authority [i.e., MWAA] wields federal 

authority. Most importantly, both the 

Authority’s existence and the powers it 

exercises come directly from a federal statute 
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enacted by Congress, 49 U.S.C. § 49106. The 

Authority is authorized by Congress to 

exercise various powers, such as the powers 

to issue bonds, enter into contracts, and ‘levy 

fees or other charges.’ 49 U.S.C. § 

49106(b)(1)(E). And the powers the Authority 

wields are, like other federal authority, 

supreme to Virginia law. [Citation omitted.] 

 

The Authority is also organically connected 

to the rest of the federal government. Seven 

of its seventeen board members are 

appointed by federal government officials. 49 

U.S.C. § 49106(c). The presidential 

appointees to the Authority’s board of 

directors are explicitly required to consider 

the federal government’s interests while 

carrying out their duties. 49 U.S.C. § 

49106(c)(6)(B). The Authority’s contracts are 

reviewed by the Comptroller General of the 

United States, who reports his findings to 

committees in the Senate and the House of 

Representatives. 49 U.S.C. § 49106(g). 

     The amici in the Fourth Circuit said that 

exempting MWAA from the federal Religious 

Freedom Restoration Act “would pose a grave threat 

to the protection of free exercise envisioned by 

Congress when it passed RFRA.” This Court should 

grant certiorari and repel this threat by holding 

authoritatively that MWAA is subject to RFRA.   
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III. 

THE FOURTH CIRCUIT’S DECISION SHOULD 

BE SUMMARILY REVERSED BECAUSE 

PERMITTING MWAA TO AVOID MAKING A 

REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION FOR 

RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE WHEN AN 

EMPLOYEE  HAS ALLEGEDLY  FAILED TO 

COMPLY WITH A PROCEDURAL TECHNICALITY 

WOULD NULLIFY THIS COURT’S DECISION IN 

EEOC v. ABERCROMBIE & FITCH 

     Rule 10 of the Rules of this Court notes that 

certiorari is “rarely granted” to correct a lower 

court’s misapplication of a “properly stated rule of 

law.” As demonstrated in the preceding pages of this 

petition, the Fourth Circuit’s decision invoked “rules 

of law” that were not “properly stated” and warrant 

review by this Court. 

     Beyond these issues, however, the Court should 

grant certiorari and summarily reverse the Fourth 

Circuit’s plainly erroneous and unjust decision 

resting on the court’s misstatement or 

misunderstanding of MWAA’s “Absence and Leave 

Program.” Error correction is said to be “outside the 

mainstream of the Court’s functions” Cavazos v. 
Smith, 132 S. Ct. 2, 9 (2011) (Ginsburg, J., 

dissenting, quoting from Gressman, Geller, Shapiro, 

Bishop & Hartnett, Supreme Court Practice 351 (9th 

ed. 2007). But when the decision below is 

demonstrably erroneous – as it is in this case – this 

Court has granted certiorari and summarily 

reversed judgments of lower courts in civil cases. 

E.g., V.L. v. E.L., 136 S. Ct. 1017 (2016); James v. 
City of Boise, Idaho, 136 S. Ct. 685 (2016); Amgen, 
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Inc. v. Harris, 136 S. Ct. 758 (2016); Ash v. Tyson 
Foods, Inc., 546 U.S. 454 (2006); Sao Paulo State of 
the Federative Republic of Brazil v. American 
Tobacco Co., 535 U.S. 229 (2002).3  

     Moreover, the right that has been erroneously 

denied in this case is an important personal liberty 

that Congress has repeatedly preserved – the right 

to observe one’s religious faith and to practice its 

rituals. In Ben-Levi v.  Brown, 136 S. Ct. 930 (2016), 

Justice Alito issued an 11-page opinion dissenting 

from the denial of certiorari and expressing his view 

that certiorari should have been granted and the 

Fourth Circuit’s decision rejecting a Jewish state 

prisoner’s RLUIPA claim should have been 

summarily reversed. The Fourth Circuit’s error is 

clearer in this case than in Ben-Levi and the 

harmful adverse effect of permitting this decision to 

stand is greater than the effect of the lower-court 

ruling in Ben-Levi. 

     By its ruling in this case, the Fourth Circuit has 

created an “escape route” for any employer who 

wants to avoid the statutory obligation to make a 

                                                 
3
 Summary reversal on the ground that summary judgment on 

the religious-accommodation claim was erroneous could leave 

the first two issues presented in this petition for further 

consideration on remand. In light of Judge Hilton’s “high 

degree of favoritism and antagonism” to petitioner and her 

claims, the court below should be directed to reassign the case 

to another district judge. See Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 

540, 550-555 (1994); Cobell v. Kempthorne, 455 F.3d 317, 331-

336 (D.C. Cir. 2006); United States v. Microsoft Corp., 56 F.3d 

1448, 1463 (D.C. Cir. 1995); United States v. Torkington, 874 

F.2d 1441, 1446-1447 (11th Cir. 1989). 
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reasonable accommodation for the religious 

observance of an employee. A recalcitrant employer 

may condition the required statutory accommodation 

on compliance with a technical approval procedure 

and can then penalize the religiously observant 

employee or deny the accommodation altogether if 

the employee fails to follow all the prescribed 

procedural conditions.4 

     For example, Abercrombie & Fitch, which is 

obliged, after the decision in Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission v. Abercrombie & Fitch, 
135 S. Ct. 2028 (2015), to permit Samantha Elauf to 

wear her head-scarf on the sales-floor, might now 

condition this accommodation on Ms. Elauf 

requesting and  receiving oral approval for such 

apparel from the sales manager each day. Just as 

Ms. Elauf has a statutorily protected right under 

Section 701(j) to wear her head-scarf, petitioner has 

a statutorily protected right to be absent from her 

workplace on Passover. Imposing and enforcing a 

requirement, as MWAA did and the Fourth Circuit 

approved, that petitioner ask and receive oral 

approval from her supervisor is comparable to 

imposing a similar pre-condition on the exercise of 

Ms. Elauf’s right. 

                                                 
4 Although the Fourth Circuit chose to designate its opinion as 

“Unpublished,” the decision has received exposure in the 

media. See, e.g. Edwin Black, Huffington Post, Passover 
Punishment Case Continues to Wander Through the Courts, 

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/5852d950e4b05f567d8bd7 

36?timestamp=1481824646950. Hence employers will know of, 

and can emulate, MWAA’s reliance on a claimed procedural 

defect in an employee’s request for a religious accommodation. 

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/
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     We note, finally, that the Fourth Circuit’s en banc 
court includes the ten Circuit Judges who ruled that 

President Trump’s restriction on the entry of foreign 

citizens to the United States constituted religious 

discrimination against Muslims. As we observed in 

an amicus curiae brief filed on petitioner’s behalf in 

Trump v. International Refugee Association Project, 
et al., No. 16-1436, that conclusion is inconsistent 

with the Fourth Circuit’s assertion in this case that 

there was no “religious conflict with an employment 

requirement” (Pet. App. A, p. 14a) and that “MWAA 

did not discriminate against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her religion.” Pet. App. A, p. 8a, n.4.    

CONCLUSION 

     For the foregoing reasons, this petition for a writ 

of certiorari should be granted and the decision of 

the Fourth Circuit should be summarily reversed. 

        

   Respectfully submitted, 

   NATHAN LEWIN 

   Counsel of Record 

   ALYZA D. LEWIN 

   LEWIN & LEWIN, LLP  

   888 17th Street NW, 4th Floor 

   Washington, DC 20006 

   (202) 828-1000 

   nat@lewinlewin.com 

         

   Attorneys for Petitioner  
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APPENDIX A 

 

UNPUBLISHED 

 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT 

 

No. 16-1330 

 

SUSAN H. ABELES, 

Plaintiff – Appellant, 

v. 

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS 

AUTHORITY, Defendant – Appellee,  

and JULIA HODGE; VALERIE O'HARA, 

Defendants. 

---------------------------------------  

THE AMERICAN JEWISH COMMITTEE; THE 

NATIONAL JEWISH COMMISSION ON LAW AND 

PUBLIC AFFAIRS; THE BECKET FUND FOR 

RELIGIOUS LIBERTY, Amici Supporting 

Appellant.  

 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Virginia, at Alexandria. Claude 

M. Hilton, Senior District Judge. (1:15-cv-00792-

CMH-IDD) 

 

Argued: December 8, 2016 Decided: January 26, 

2017 Before WILKINSON, SHEDD, and DUNCAN, 

Circuit Judges. Affirmed by unpublished opinion. 

Judge Duncan wrote the opinion, in which Judge 

Wilkinson and Judge Shedd joined.  
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ARGUED: Nathan Lewin, Lewin & Lewin, LLP, 

Washington, D.C., for Appellant. Bruce P. Heppen, 

Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority, 

Washington, D.C., for Appellee.  

 

ON BRIEF: Joseph W. Santini, Morris Kletzkin, 

Friedlander Misler, PLLC, Washington, D.C., for 

Appellee. Dennis Rapps, New York, New York; Meir 

Katz, Magen Legal, Baltimore, Maryland, for Amicus 

The National Jewish Commission on Law and Public 

Affairs “COLPA”. Eric C. Rassbach, The Becket 

Fund For Religious Liberty, Washington, D.C., for 

Amici The American Jewish Committee and The 

Becket Fund for Religious Liberty.  

 

Unpublished opinions are not binding precedent in 

this circuit.  

 

DUNCAN, Circuit Judge: Plaintiff-Appellant Susan 

H. Abeles sued her employer Metropolitan 

Washington Airports Authority (“MWAA” or 

“Defendant”) and her supervisors, alleging religious 

discrimination in violation of Title VII, deprivation 

of civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and violations 

of federal and state religious freedom acts. The 

district court granted the individual supervisors’ 

motions to dismiss but denied MWAA’s motion to 

dismiss. After discovery, the district court granted 

summary judgment to MWAA on all claims. Plaintiff 

appeals each of these rulings. For the reasons that 

follow, we affirm.  
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I. A. Plaintiff, a practicing Orthodox Jew, began 

working at MWAA in 1987.1 MWAA knew Plaintiff’s 

religious beliefs prohibited her from working on 

Jewish holidays. During 2012 and 2013--the relevant 

time period for this case--Plaintiff reported to 

Valerie O’Hara (“O’Hara”), who in turn reported to 

Julia Hodge (“Hodge”). In her 26 years of working at 

MWAA, Plaintiff’s supervisors always allowed 

Plaintiff to leave early on Fridays so that she could 

arrive home before sundown to observe the Sabbath 

in the winter months. On occasion, MWAA also 

provided kosher food at staff events in recognition of 

Plaintiff’s religious dietary requirements. MWAA--

including Plaintiff’s first-level supervisor, O’Hara--

never denied Plaintiff leave to observe a religious 

holiday when she requested leave prior to being out 

of the office. The instant dispute arises from 

Plaintiff’s failure to follow MWAA’s formal procedure 

for requesting leave. MWAA’s Absence and Leave 

Program (“Leave Policy”) specifies that employees 

must request leave by form or email and receive 

approval before taking leave. Plaintiff was aware of 

the Leave Policy and had seen the document before.  

 

In addition to MWAA’s formal process, the 

department in which Plaintiff worked used an 

informal planning calendar to help determine 

coverage based on when people would be in the 

                                                           
1 MWAA is a “regional entity” that the Virginia General 

Assembly and the District of Columbia City Council, acting 

pursuant to an interstate compact, jointly created for the 

purpose of operating the federally owned Washington-Dulles 

International Airport and Ronald Reagan Washington National 

Airport. Washington-Dulles Transp., Ltd. v. Metro. Wash. 
Airports Auth., 263 F.3d 371, 373 (4th Cir. 2001) 



 
 
 
 
 

4a 
 

office. In January 2013, Plaintiff noted on this 

internal planning calendar the dates she anticipated 

she would be out on leave that year. After marking 

the internal planning calendar, Plaintiff did not 

discuss the specific dates with her supervisors. 

O’Hara and Hodge never told Plaintiff that putting 

dates on the internal planning calendar relieved her 

of her responsibility to request leave properly and 

receive advance approval.2 

 

In February 2013, Plaintiff had multiple meetings 

with O’Hara and Hodge, as well as MWAA’s Labor 

Relations Specialist Juan Ramos, regarding her 

“2013 Work Goals and Performance Factors.” That 

plan highlighted the need for her to submit her 

reports on time and that she must “[u]se leave 

according to the Airports Authority’s Absence and 

Leave Policy.” J.A. 347.  

 

In 2013, the eight-day Jewish holiday of Passover 

occurred between Tuesday, March 26 and Tuesday, 

April 2. Plaintiff’s religious beliefs preclude labor on 

the first two days and last two days of Passover. On 

Thursday, March 21, 2013, at a weekly meeting, 

Plaintiff requested leave from O’Hara to observe the 

first two days of Passover on March 26 and 27, 2013. 

Plaintiff discussed her leave with O’Hara, received 

advance approval, and then sent O’Hara an Outlook 

calendar invitation. On March 21, Plaintiff knew 

that she would also need to take leave on Monday, 

                                                           
2  Plaintiff alleges that the MWAA left leave policy to the 

discretion of individual supervisors. However, MWAA 

maintains that the internal planning calendar did not 

substitute for formal procedure as stipulated by the Leave 

Policy.  
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April 1 and Tuesday, April 2, but did not request 

leave for those days.  

  

After observing the first two days of Passover, 

Plaintiff returned to work on Thursday, March 28, 

2013. O’Hara was also in the office on March 28, but 

Plaintiff did not request leave that day for April 1 

and 2, 2013, the last two days of Passover.  

 

On Friday, March 29, 2013, Plaintiff sent an Outlook 

calendar invitation to O’Hara and Hodge, “notifying” 

them that she would be out of the office on April 1 

and 2, 2013. Plaintiff did not intend this Outlook 

calendar invitation to be a request for leave, but 

merely a “reminder” of the dates she had placed on 

the internal calendar. J.A. 283, 289. Plaintiff 

planned to discuss her leave request with O’Hara in 

person on March 29, 2013, but O’Hara was out of the 

office that day. O’Hara did not respond to Plaintiff’s 

March 29, 2013, Outlook calendar invitation.3  

  

On April 3, 2013, when O’Hara returned to the 

office, she sent an email to Plaintiff that stated her 

absence on April 1 and 2 “was not pre-approved” by 

O’Hara or Hodge and that “[a]s a matter of process” 

the internal planning calendar “is for the Manager’s 

resource planning” and “not for pre-approving leave.” 

                                                           
3 Although Hodge, Plaintiff’s second-level supervisor, responded 

to Plaintiff’s March 29, 2013, Outlook calendar invitation, 

Hodge stated in her deposition that she assumed Plaintiff had 

already sought and received approval consistent with the Leave 

Policy from O’Hara, in part because Plaintiff explained in a 

reply email that the calendar invitation was a “reminder of 

[her] scheduled leave.” J.A. 326.  
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J.A. 10; see also J.A. 114. O’Hara continued: 

“Sending a meeting request on a day that I’m on 

leave to request leave for the following two days is 

unacceptable.” J.A. 10; see also J.A. 114. In the 

email, O’Hara also granted Plaintiff’s telephone 

request for leave on April 3, 2013--leave Plaintiff 

requested due to the death of an uncle. O’Hara 

subsequently classified Plaintiff’s absence on April 1 

and 2 as “Absent Without Leave” or “AWOL.”  

 

On April 12, 2013, Plaintiff received a letter from 

Hodge proposing a five-day suspension as discipline 

for (1) insubordination, for failing to meet deadlines 

regarding deliverables including a plan to automate 

her work and completion of her annual performance 

goals; (2) failure to follow the procedure for 

requesting leave; and (3) absence without leave on 

April 1 and 2. In her deposition testimony, Plaintiff 

did not refute any of the facts in the letter, other 

than to clarify that she failed to meet one deadline 

because of the death of an aunt.  

 

Regarding insubordination, the Table of Penalties in 

MWAA’s Conduct and Discipline Directive states 

that the penalty for a first offense of “failure to carry 

out orders” is “oral reprimand to 5 days suspension,” 

and the penalty for a first offense of “refusal to carry 

out orders” is “5 days suspension to removal.” J.A. 

131, 220. Plaintiff’s suspension became final on May 

3, 2013.  

 

Later, Plaintiff requested leave to observe another 

Jewish holiday in May 2013, which O’Hara granted. 

Plaintiff retired from MWAA on May 31, 2013.  
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On September 17, 2013, Plaintiff filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) alleging religious 

discrimination in violation of Title VII. On February 

7, 2015, Plaintiff received a “Dismissal and Notice of 

Rights” letter from the EEOC, which provides a 

potential plaintiff the right to sue.  

 

B.  On May 5, 2015, Plaintiff filed suit in the United 

States District Court for the District of Columbia 

against MWAA, and supervisors O’Hara and Hodge, 

alleging violations of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

2(a)(1) (employment discrimination on the basis of 

religion), 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (deprivation of civil 

rights), the federal Religious Freedom Restoration 

Act (“RFRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb et seq., and the 

Virginia Religious Freedom Act (“VRFA”), Va. Code 

Ann. Section 57-2.02. The district court transferred 

the case to the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Virginia.  

 

On August 17, 2015, the district court granted 

Hodge and O’Hara’s motions to dismiss, but denied 

MWAA’s motion to dismiss. The district court later 

granted summary judgment to MWAA on all claims, 

finding that the record does not reflect direct or 

circumstantial evidence of religious discrimination,  

the § 1983 claim is time  barred, and the federal and  
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state religious freedom acts do not apply.4 Plaintiff 

appeals each of these rulings. 

 

II. We review de novo a district court’s decisions to 

grant a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary 

judgment. White v. BFI Waste Services, LLC, 375 

F.3d 288,291,294 (4th Cir. 2004). In reviewing the 

district court’s grant of summary judgment, we view 

the facts and draw all reasonable inferences in the 

light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. at 

294. However, the nonmoving party must set forth 

specific facts that go beyond the “mere existence of a 

scintilla of evidence.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 
Inc., 477 U.S.242, 252 (1986). The nonmoving party 

bears the burden of demonstrating a genuine issue of 

material fact for trial; conclusory or speculative 

allegations do not suffice. Thompson v. Potomac 
Elec. Power Co., 312 F.3d 645, 649 (4th Cir. 2002). 

 

III. A. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

provides two ways of proving discrimination in 

employment by showing: (1) “disparate treatment” or 

(2) “disparate impact.” EEOC v. Abercrombie & 
Fitch Stores, Inc., 135 S. Ct. 2028, 2032 (2015); 42 

                                                           
4 Because we conclude that MWAA did not discriminate against 

Plaintiff on the basis of her religion in violation of Title VII, 

and the record indicates MWAA always allowed Plaintiff to 

observe the Sabbath and religious holidays if she complied with 

formal procedure, MWAA necessarily did not “substantially 

burden” Plaintiff’s “exercise of religion” in violation of the 

federal and state religious freedom acts. 42 U.S.C. §2000bb-

1(u); Va. Code Ann. §57-2.02(B). Therefore, we decline to reach 

the issue whether those statutes--which apply only to 

“government” and a “government entity”--apply to MWAA. 
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U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). Plaintiff alleges “disparate 

treatment”--that is, “intentional discrimination”--

under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1) on the basis of her 

religion. That provision prohibits an employer from 

(1) “discriminat[ing] against any individual” (2) 

“because of” (3) “such individual’s . . . religion.” Id. § 

2000e-2(a)(1). Title VII, in turn, defines religion to 

“includ[e] all aspects of religious observance and 

practice, as well as belief, unless an employer 

demonstrates that he is unable to reasonably 
accommodate to an employee’s . . . religious 

observance or practice without undue hardship on 

the conduct of the employer’s business.” Id. § 

2000e(j) (emphasis added). “Because this definition 

includes a requirement that an employer 

‘accommodate’ an employee’s religious expression,” 

an employee alleging intentional discrimination 

under § 2000e-2(a)(1) can bring suit based on a 

disparate-treatment theory or a failure-to-

accommodate theory. Chalmers v. Tulon Co. of 
Richmond, 101 F.3d 1012, 1018 (4th Cir. 1996) 

(citing Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 

U.S. 63 (1977)).  

 

Plaintiff argues that the district court erred by 

granting summary judgment to Defendants on her 

Title VII claim because it (1) impermissibly resolved 

factual issues when evaluating her claim under a 

disparate-treatment theory and (2) failed to consider 

her claim under a failure-to-accommodate theory. 

Plaintiff also argues (3) that the district court erred 

in granting her supervisors’ motions to dismiss. We 

consider each argument in turn.  
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1. “To prove a claim under the disparate treatment 

theory, an employee must demonstrate that the 

employer treated her differently than other 

employees because of her religious beliefs.” 

Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1017 (emphasis omitted). 

Absent direct evidence of discrimination,5 a plaintiff 

can establish discrimination via circumstantial 

evidence under the burden-shifting framework 

established in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 

411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). The burden-shifting 

framework first requires the plaintiff to establish a 

prima facie case of discrimination before the burden 

shifts to the employer to provide evidence of a 

legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its 

employment action; if the employer does so, the 

burden shifts back to the employee to show that the 

employer’s proffered reason is pretextual. Chalmers, 

101 F.3d at 1018. To establish a prima facie case, a 

plaintiff must show “(1) membership in a protected 

class, (2) satisfactory job performance, (3) adverse 

employment action, and (4) different treatment”--

which here means more severe discipline--“than 

similarly situated employees outside the protected 

class.” Coleman v. Md. Court of Appeals, 626 F.3d 

187, 190 (4th Cir. 2010); Cook v. CSX Transp. Co., 
988 F.2d 507, 511 (4th Cir. 1993).  

 

Applying this framework, the district court 

concluded that Plaintiff had not established a prima 

facie case of discrimination under a disparate-

treatment theory. As an individual alleging 

                                                           
5 Plaintiff does not contest the district court’s conclusion that 

Plaintiff adduced no direct evidence of discrimination.  
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discrimination on the basis of her faith, Plaintiff is a 

member of a protected class. And she suffered an 

adverse employment action because MWAA 

suspended her, in part, because of the allegedly 

discriminatory AWOL finding. However, the district 

court concluded that “Plaintiff fails to establish a 

prima facie case of discrimination under Title VII 

because she cannot demonstrate satisfactory job 

performance or that she was treated differently from 

similarly situated employees outside the protected 

class.” J.A. 514. We agree.  

 

First, as to her job performance, Plaintiff argues that 

the district court incorrectly determined that she did 

not dispute the charge of insubordination and that it 

alone merited a five-day suspension, regardless of 

the allegedly discriminatory AWOL classification. 

The record belies Plaintiff’s argument. As MWAA 

notes, the Table of Penalties contained in MWAA’s 

Conduct and Discipline Directive states that the 

penalty for a first offense of “failure to carry out 

orders” is “oral reprimand to 5 days suspension,” and 

the penalty for a first offense of “refusal to carry out 

orders” is “5 days suspension to removal.” J.A. 131, 

220. Plaintiff points to a portion of Hodge’s 

deposition to suggest that, absent Plaintiff’s failure 

to request leave properly, MWAA would only have 

“reprimanded” Plaintiff for insubordination. But 

Hodge did not so concede.6 

 

                                                           
6 Hodge stated: “At a minimum, [Plaintiff] would have been 

reprimanded.” J.A. 334 (emphasis added).  
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Plaintiff also asserts that she disputed the 

allegations regarding insubordination in her 

deposition. But the portion she cites reveals that she 

did not refute any of the charges. J.A.292-94. MWAA 

attorneys asked Plaintiff several times whether the 

contents of the April 12 disciplinary letter, including 

the charge of insubordination--paragraph by 

paragraph--were inaccurate. She disputed nothing, 

and only explained the tardiness of one report by 

citing the death of an aunt. Plaintiff also asserts that 

she “disputed” part of MWAA’s Statement of 

Undisputed Material Facts, which cited deposition 

testimony explaining that Plaintiff’s “supervisors 

had concerns regarding her deteriorating 

performance and attendance and began to supervise 

her more closely in an effort to improve both. 

Numerous meetings were held throughout the first 

three months of 2013 in an effort to improve 

[Plaintiff’s] performance and attendance.” J.A.127 

¶17. Without any citation to the record, Plaintiff 

simply stated “False” in her Response to Defendant’s 

Statement of Undisputed Material Facts. J.A.427.7 

Conclusory allegations do not suffice to create a 

genuine issue of material fact for trial. See 
Thompson, 312 F.3dat 649. 

 

                                                           
7 Plaintiff also argues that she disputed the charge of 

insubordination in a letter written by her attorney to MWAA. 

However, that letter is not included in the record on appeal. An 

“appellate court normally will not consider facts outside the 

record on appeal,” and we decline to do so with regard to this 

letter. Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Coil, 887 F.2d1236, 1239 (4th 

Cir. 1989). 
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Even if Plaintiff could establish a genuine issue of 

material fact regarding whether her work 

performance was satisfactory, Plaintiff adduces no 

evidence that MWAA treated her differently from 

similarly-situated employees outside her protected 

class. In Plaintiff’s Statement of Undisputed 

Material Facts, she states--again, with no citation to 

the recordor other evidence--that: “No employee of 

MWAA has ever been suspended for as much as 

three (3) days for being AWOL or for taking annual 

leave without approval of a request of annual leave.” 

J.A. 435. Plaintiff provides no evidence that she 

received more severe discipline than similarly-

situated employees outside her protected class, nor 

any comparators on the basis of which to make this 

assessment. See Cook, 988 F.2d at 511. 

 

Plaintiff does not establish a genuine dispute of 

material fact either that she performed her work 

satisfactorily or that MWAA disciplined her more 

severely than other similarly-situated employees 

outside her protected class. Plaintiff thus fails to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination under 

a disparate-treatment theory.  

 

2. Plaintiff’s “primary argument is not that the 

district court erred in its analysis of its claim under 

the disparate treatment theory, but that the court 

erred in failing to analyze her suit under the 

accommodation theory.” Chalmers, 101 F.3d at 1018. 

Unlike disparate treatment, under a failure-to-

accommodate theory “an employee can establish a 

claim even though she cannot show that other 

(unprotected) employees were treated more 

favorably or cannot rebut an employer’s legitimate, 
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non-discriminatory reason for her discharge.” Id. To 

establish a prima facie failure-to-accommodate 

claim, a plaintiff must show (1) she has a bona fide 

religious belief or practice that conflicts with an 

employment requirement and (2) the need for an 

accommodation of that religious belief or practice 

served as a motivating factor in the employer’s 

adverse employment action. See id. at 1019; EEOC v. 
Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., 135 S. Ct. 2028, 

2033 (2015) (clarifying that “the rule for disparate-

treatment claims based on a failure to accommodate 

a religious practice is straightforward: An employer 

may not make an [employee’s] religious practice, 

confirmed or otherwise, a factor in employment 

decisions”). Here, Plaintiff adduced evidence of 

neither, although we need not proceed beyond the 

first.  

 

With respect to the leave at issue, Plaintiff does not 

establish the first element of her claim: a religious 

conflict with an employment requirement. Her 

observance of the Sabbath during winter months 

when the sun sets earlier created a conflict with her 

normal working hours on Fridays, and MWAA 

consistently accommodated her request to leave 

work early. Regarding Jewish holidays, however, no 

conflict existed between Plaintiff observing religious 

holidays and following MWAA’s neutral rules 

requiring advance approval of leave following 

specified procedures. Nor could she establish such a 

conflict. The Leave Policy merely requires employees 

to request leave by form or email, and obtain 

advance approval.  
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Of particular significance is the fact that Plaintiff 

points to no occasion on which MWAA denied leave 

when she requested leave in compliance with 

MWAA’s Leave Policy. To the contrary, the evidence 

indicates MWAA would have granted her request to 

take leave if she had abided by the Leave Policy. 

MWAA regularly granted her leave to observe 

religious holidays for the prior 26 years and, in 2013, 

approved leave for the first two days of Passover and 

another religious holiday several weeks later. 

Plaintiff followed the Leave Policy on those 

occasions. She failed to obtain advance approval for 

her absence on April 1 and 2, which coincided with 

the last two days of Passover in 2013, and that 

failure to comply is the sole differentiating factor 

from every occasion on which leave was granted.  

 

3. Plaintiff also argues that the district court erred 

in dismissing respondents O’Hara and Hodge, 

Plaintiff’s first- and second-level supervisors. In 

Lissau v. Southern Food Services, Inc., we held that 

supervisors are not liable in their individual 

capacities for Title VII violations. 159 F.3d 177, 180 

(4th Cir. 1998).8 Plaintiff concedes that Lissau 

                                                           
8 The district court dismissed the individual defendants on the 

basis that individual supervisors may not be sued personally 

when they are carrying out personnel decisions of a plainly 

delegable character, relying on Birkbeck v. Marvel Lighting 
Corp., 30 F.3d 507, 510 n.1 (4th Cir. 1994). J.A. 107. We affirm, 

however, under the blanket rule this court announced in 

Lissau, 159 F.3d at 180.  
 



 
 
 
 
 

16a 
 

dictates dismissing her Title VII claim against 

Hodge and O’Hara. See Reply Br. at 17–18.9  

 

IV. Plaintiff next argues that the district court erred 

by granting summary judgment to MWAA on the  

§ 1983 claim when it found that the applicable 

statute of limitations barred the claim. Because § 

1983 does not contain an express statute of 

limitations, we use state statutes of limitations, and 

here Virginia’s two-year statute-of-limitations period 

applies. See A Soc’y Without A Name v. Virginia, 655 

F.3d 342, 348 (4th Cir. 2011). Federal law controls 

when the applicable statute-of-limitations period 

begins to run; this occurs when the claim accrues--

that is, when the plaintiff “knows or has reason to 

know of the injury which is the basis of the 

action.”Id.(quoting Cox v. Stanton, 529 F.2d 47,50 

(4th Cir. 1975)). Plaintiff does not dispute that the 

action accrued on May 3, 2013, when her 

disciplinary action became final. See Appellant’s Br. 

at 37–38. Plaintiff filed suit on May 5, 2015, more 

than two years later. The statute of limitations 

therefore bars her claim.10 

                                                           
9 Plaintiff nevertheless contends that her § 1983 claim should 

remain against these individuals. However, because we 

conclude that Plaintiff’s § 1983 claim is time barred, see infra 
Part IV, the district court properly dismissed the individual 

supervisors.  
 
10

 Plaintiff suggests that she could not file her §1983 claim 

earlier. That is incorrect. Plaintiff filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the EEOC on September 17, 2013. 

Although she did not receive a right-to-sue letter until 

February 7, 2015, she could have requested one after the 180-

day statutory period expired. See 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(f)(1); see 
also 29 C.F.R. §1601.28 (explaining that upon request by an 
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V. The district court properly dismissed Plaintiff’s 

individual supervisors and granted summary 

judgment to MWAA on both the Title VII and 

§1983claims. Accordingly, the judgment of the 

district court is AFFIRMED. 
 

                                                                                                                       
aggrieved party “the Commission shall promptly issue” notice 

of right to sue “at any time after the expiration of one hundred 

eighty (180) days from the date of filing of the charge with the 

Commission”). For this reason, Plaintiff’s suggestion that 

Virginia’s tolling provision, Va. Code Ann. Section 8.01-

229(E)(1), tolled her case while her claim was pending before 

the EEOC lacks merit. 



 
 
 
 
 

18a 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

2016 WL 6892103 

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 

United States District Court, 

E.D. Virginia, 

Alexandria Division. 

Susan H. Abeles, Plaintiff, 

v. 

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority, 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 1:15–cv–00792 

 

Signed 04/01/2016 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

Jeffrey Marc Hamberger, Law Offices of Jeffrey M. 

Hamberger PC, Rockville, MD, Nathan Lewin, 

Lewin & Lewin, LLP, Washington, DC, for Plaintiff. 

Joseph Walter Santini, Morris Kletzkin, Friedlander 

Misler PLLC, Washington, DC, for Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

CLAUDE M. HILTON UNITED STATES DISTRICT 

JUDGE 

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on 

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment. 

I. STATEMENT OF FACT 

Plaintiff, an Orthodox Jew, began working for 

Defendant in 1987. Defendant knew that Plaintiff 

was an Orthodox Jew. No evidence suggests that 

Plaintiff was denied leave to observe a religious 

holiday throughout more than two decades of 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0482765301&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0407320401&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0175256901&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0173228901&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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employment. Plaintiff appears to have always been 

allowed to leave early on Fridays to be home before 

sundown to observe the Sabbath. 

  

Plaintiff began working under a new supervisor, 

O’Hara, in 2009. The record reflects that O’Hara, 

like Plaintiff’s supervisors before her, never denied 

Plaintiff’s requested leave to observe a religious 

holiday or withheld permission for Plaintiff to leave 

early on Fridays to observe the Sabbath. O’Hara 

provided Kosher food for Plaintiff at staff events. 

  

Defendant’s Absence and Leave Program specifies 

that annual leave must be requested by form or e-

mail. Plaintiff was aware of the Absence and Leave 

Program. The department in which Plaintiff worked 

utilized an informal planning calendar to help assess 

when people would be in the office. Marking the 

calendar was no substitute for formal procedure. 

Annual leave still had to be requested pursuant to 

the Absence and Leave Program. Neither O’Hara nor 

Hodge, Plaintiff’s second-level supervisor, told 

Plaintiff that marking the calendar was an adequate 

substitute for following the formal policy. 

  

O’Hara and Hodge were concerned about Plaintiff’s 

performance prior to her AWOL status in April 2013. 

Plaintiff failed to meet her supervisor’s expectations 

and instructions earlier in the year. Plaintiff does 

not dispute the accuracy of the allegations regarding 

insubordination set forth in a letter dated April 12, 

2013, advising her that she may be suspended for 

five days for that charge, as well as her failure to 

follow the leave procedures and her AWOL status on 

April 1 and 2. Under Defendant’s Conduct and 
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Discipline directive, Plaintiff could have been 

suspended for five days simply on the 

insubordination charge alone. 

  

Plaintiff attended meetings in February 2013 with 

Hodge, O’Hara, and Ramos, one of the Airports 

Authority’s Labor Relations Specialists, regarding 

being on time to work and complying with the 

Airports Authority’s leave policy. Plaintiff’s Work 

Goals and Performance Factors for 2013, of which 

she was advised in early 2013, required her to use 

leave in accordance with the Airports Authority’s 

Absence and Leave Program. 

  

Even for the first half of Passover 2013, Plaintiff 

demonstrated that she was aware of Defendant’s 

leave policy. On March 21, 2013, Plaintiff requested 

leave from O’Hara to observe the first two days of 

Passover on March 26 and 27, 2013. Plaintiff 

followed proper procedure by discussing her 

requested leave with O’Hara, receiving approval, 

then sending O’Hara an Outlook calendar invitation. 

That leave was granted. Nothing in the record 

indicates that Plaintiff was unaware on March 21 

that she would also need leave on April 1 and 2 to 

observe the final days of Passover. Plaintiff returned 

to the office on March 28, 2013, after being off work 

for the first two days of Passover. While O’Hara was 

in the office that day, Plaintiff did not request leave 

from her for April 1 and 2. 

  

On March 29, 2013, Plaintiff sent an Outlook 

Calendar invitation to O’Hara and Hodge, 

“notifying” them that she would be out of the office 

on April 1 and 2, 2013. O’Hara was out of the office 
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and did not respond to the invitation. O’Hara did not 

see Plaintiff’s Calendar invite until she returned to 

the office on April 2, 2013. 

  

Hodge saw Plaintiff’s March 29, 2013, Calendar 

invite on March 29. After exchanging e-mails with 

Plaintiff, however, she believed that Plaintiff 

requested leave from O’Hara for April 1 and 2 and 

that the leave was approved. O’Hara, not Hodge, was 

Plaintiff’s leave approving official. Regardless what 

Plaintiff intended to convey through the March 28, 

2013, Outlook Calendar invite, Plaintiff did not 

request leave for April 1 and 2, 2013, in accordance 

with Defendant’s leave policy. Plaintiff was placed 

on AWOL status for April 1 and 2, 2013, because she 

failed to request leave for those two days prior to her 

absence. 

  

Plaintiff further demonstrated her understanding of 

the leave policy by when she requested two days of 

leave in May 2013 to observe another Jewish 

holiday. That properly requested leave was granted. 

  

Plaintiff voluntarily retired from the Airports 

Authority on May 31, 2013. She filed this suit in the 

U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia on 

May 5, 2015, alleging violations of 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e–5 (religious discrimination by employer), 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 (civil action for deprivation of rights), 

the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, and the 

Virginia Religious Freedom Act. Plaintiff’s claims 

were against the Metropolitan Washington Airports 

Authority, and her supervisors Hodge and O’Hara. 

The case was transferred to this Court on June 23, 

2015. On August 17, 2015, this Court granted 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS2000E-5&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS2000E-5&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1983&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1983&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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Defendants Hodge and O’Hara’s motions to dismiss, 

and denied Defendant Metropolitan Washington 

Airports Authority’s Motion to Dismiss. Defendant 

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority now 

moves for summary judgment on all counts. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Summary judgment is appropriate when “there is no 

genuine dispute as to any material fact and the 

movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). Summary judgment will be 

granted unless “a reasonable jury could return a 

verdict for the nonmoving party” on the evidence 

presented. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 

U.S. 242, 248 (1986). An otherwise properly 

supported summary judgment motion will not be 

defeated by the existence of a dispute as to 

immaterial facts; only disputes over facts that might 

affect the outcome of the trial will properly preclude 

the entry of summary judgment. Id. at 248. 

  

Plaintiff bears the initial burden of proof as to each 

and every element of his claims. See United States 
ex rel. Berge v. Bd. of Trustees of the Univ. of 
Alabama, 104 F.3d 1453, 1462 (4th Cir. 1997). 

“Conclusory or speculative allegations do not suffice, 

nor does a mere scintilla of evidence in support of 

[the nonmoving party’s] case.” Thompson v. Potomac 
Elec. Power Co., 312 F.3d 645, 649 (4th Cir. 2002) 

(internal citation omitted) (internal quotation marks 

omitted); Hoschar v. Appalachian Power Co., 739 

F.3d 163, 169 (4th Cir. 2014). 
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III. DISCUSSION 

Plaintiff claims that she suffered unlawful 

discrimination on the basis of her orthodox Jewish 

faith when she was considered absent without leave 

(“AWOL”) and suspended for five days after not 

appearing for work on April 1 and 2, 2013–the last 

two days of Passover. The record reflects neither 

direct nor circumstantial evidence that Plaintiff was 

considered AWOL or suspended because of her 

religion, or that religious animus played any role in 

the discipline she received. To the contrary, Plaintiff 

could observe her religious holidays and maintain 

her employment by following neutral rules which 

apply to all of Defendant’s employees. Further, 

Defendant is subject neither to the Religious 

Freedom Restoration Act nor the Virginia Religious 

Freedom Act. 

1. Defendant is Entitled to Summary Judgment on 

Count I (42 U.S.C. § 2000e–5) Because there is No 

Evidence of Discrimination.  

For 26 years, Defendant routinely granted Plaintiff 

leave for Sabbath and religious holidays. While 

failing to follow formal procedure to request leave in 

April 2013, the record reflects that Plaintiff knew of 

and followed the policy in the preceding and 

proceeding months of March and May. Plaintiff 

offers no counter narrative that she did follow 

Defendant’s formal procedure, and Plaintiff offers no 

explanation why she failed to follow procedure that 

April. Regarding the five-day suspension, Plaintiff’s 

performance undisputedly deteriorated prior to 

Passover 2013. The undisputed charge of 

insubordination merited a five day suspension 
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penalty on its own, regardless of the allegedly 

discriminatory AWOL classification. 

  

The record does not suggest that Plaintiff was 

subject to slurs or jokes regarding her religion. 

Plaintiff presents no direct evidence that Hodge, 

O’Hara, Ramos, or any of Defendant’s other 

employees involved in Plaintiff’s discipline took any 

adverse action against her because of her religion. 

Plaintiff knew the procedure, Plaintiff followed the 

procedure in the months before and after this alleged 

discrimination, Plaintiff was disciplined for failing to 

follow the procedure in April 2013 (among other 

uncontested reasons), and Plaintiff now construes 

that discipline as discrimination because her failure 

to follow the known procedure fell on a religious 

holiday. 

  

Without evidence of direct discrimination, Plaintiff 

may only prove discrimination circumstantially. To 

establish circumstantial discrimination, a plaintiff 

must establish a prima facie case of discrimination—

in this case, of disparate treatment regarding the 

imposition of AWOL status and the five-day 

suspension; the employer must articulate a 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the 

discipline; and the plaintiff must establish that the 

employer’s legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for 

the discipline is a mere pretext to mask unlawful 

discrimination. See Texas Dept. of Comm. Affairs v. 
Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 252–56 (1981); McDonnell 
Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802–04 (1973). 

  

In the Fourth Circuit, to establish a prima facie 

discrimination case from Title VII (here, the root of 
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Count 1–42 U.S.C. § 2000e–5), a plaintiff must show 

membership in a protected class, satisfactory job 

performance, adverse employment action, and 

different treatment from similarly situated 

employees outside the protected class. See Coleman 
v. Md. Ct. of Appeals, 626 F.3d 187, 190 (4th Cir. 

2010), aff’d on other grounds, 132 S.Ct. 1327 (2012). 

  

Here, Plaintiff is a member of a protected class 

because she is an Orthodox Jew. Plaintiff was 

subject to an adverse employment action, because 

the allegedly discriminatory AWOL finding was part 

of the reason she was suspended. However, Plaintiff 

fails to establish a prima facie case of discrimination 

under Title VII because she cannot demonstrate 

satisfactory job performance or that she was treated 

differently from similarly situated employees outside 

the protected class. 

  

The undisputed facts demonstrate that Plaintiff’s 

performance was unsatisfactory. Plaintiff failed to 

meet her work goals and to produce her deliverables 

on time. Plaintiff did not produce her work in 

accordance with her supervisor’s expectations and 

instructions, involving “missed deadlines,” having 

“work products ... not complete three months after 

they were supposed to be delivered,” and engaging in 

“excuse-making as to why stuff was not getting 

done.” Plaintiff does not dispute the accuracy of the 

allegations regarding insubordination set forth in 

the April 12, 2013, letter proposing the five day 

suspension. Whether a five-day suspension was 

prudent given the charges contained within the April 

12, 2013, proposed suspension letter is not for this 

Court to decide. As the Fourth Circuit held, 
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While reviewing the employer’s articulated reasons 

for discharge and the plaintiff’s refutation thereof, 

we must keep in mind that “Title VII is not a vehicle 

for substituting the judgment of a court for that of 

the employer.” Particularly, this Court “does not sit 

as a kind of super-personnel department weighing 

the prudence of employment decisions made by firms 

charged with employment discrimination.” 

DeJarnette v. Corning Inc., 133 F.3d 293, 298–99 

(4th Cir. 1998), quoting Giannopoulos v. Brach & 
Brock Confections, Inc., 109 F.3d 406, 410 (7th Cir. 

1997) (internal citation omitted). 

  

Similarly, Plaintiff fails to make out a prima facie 

case because she cannot show she was treated any 

differently than similarly situated employees outside 

the protected class. Plaintiff has no evidence that 

she was treated more harshly than non–Orthodox 

Jews who were insubordinate, failed to follow leave 

procedure and were AWOL. The undisputed 

material facts demonstrate that Defendant 

disciplined Plaintiff in accordance with its Absence 

and Leave Program and Conduct and Discipline 

Directive, to which all Defendant’s employees are 

subject. Plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie case 

of discrimination, and her claims under Title VII 

must be dismissed. 

  

2. Defendant is Entitled to Summary Judgment on 

Count II (42 U.S.C. § 1983) Because the Claim is 

Time Barred. 

 

Because 42 U.S.C. § 1983 does not contain an 

express statute of limitations, the statute of 
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limitations applicable to § 1983 claims must come 

from state law. In Virginia, as prescribed by the 

Fourth Circuit, “[w]ith regard to the § 1983 and 

equal-protection claims, the statute-of-limitations 

period for both is two years.” A Soc’y Without A 
Name v. Virginia, 655 F.3d 342, 348 (4th Cir. 2011), 

citing Lewis v. Richmond City Police Dept., 947 F.2d 

733, 735 (4th Cir. 1991). The accrual period, 

however, is governed by federal law and “accrues 

when the plaintiff ‘knows or has reason to know of 

the injury which is the basis of the action.’ ” A Soc’y 
Without A Name, 655 F.3d at 348, quoting Cox v. 
Stanton, 529 F.2d 47, 50 (4th Cir. 1975). 

  

Here, Defendant’s suspension was proposed on April 

12, 2013, and finalized on May 3, 2013. Defendant 

was advised by letter that she would be suspended 

for five days for the reasons set forth in the April 12, 

2013 letter. Because Defendant acknowledged that 

letter by signature on May 3, 2013, she knew of the 

injury which is the basis of this action no later than 

May 3, 2013. 

  

Defendant filed her Complaint in this case in the 

U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia on 

May 5, 2015. Because Defendant’s § 1983 cause of 

action accrued on May 3, 2013, and she waited more 

than two years to file her claim under § 1983, the 

claim is time barred. 

3. Defendant is Entitled to Summary Judgment on 

Count III Because Defendant is Not Subject to the 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act. 
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Count III alleges that Defendant violated the 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”), 42 

U.S.C. § 2000bb, et seq. The RFRA applies only to 

government and “covered entities,” not independent 

entities like Defendant. “Government” is defined as a 

“branch, department, agency, instrumentality, and 

official (or other person acting under color of law) of 

the United States, or of a covered entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 

2000bb–2(l) (2015). A “covered entity” is defined as 

the “District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico, and each territory and possession of the 

United States.” Id. at § 2000bb–2(2). 

  

Defendant, however, is “a political subdivision 

constituted to operate and improve the Metropolitan 

airports,” existing “independent of Virginia and its 

local governments, the District of Columbia, and the 

United States Government.” 49 U.S.C. § 49106 (a) 

(2)–(3) (2006). Congress clearly articulated its intent 

to divest the United States of responsibility for these 

airports. See Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 
504 U.S. 374, 384 (1992). 

  

Defendant is not a branch, department, agency, 

instrumentality or official of the U.S. Government; 

nor is the Defendant part of the government of D.C., 

Puerto Rico or any other territory of the United 

States. Defendant is not subject to the RFRA by the 

plain language of the Act. 

  

Plaintiff failed to develop facts to suggest that 

Defendant is subject to the RFRA. Defendant is 

entitled to summary judgment as to Count III. 
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4. Defendant is Entitled to Summary Judgment on 

Count IV Because Defendant is not Subject to the 

Virginia Religious Freedom Act. 

 

Count IV of the Complaint alleges that Defendant is 

a government entity covered by the Virginia 

Religious Freedom Act (VRFA), Va. Code Ann. § 57–

2.02 (A), and that Defendant’s treatment of Abeles 

violated the VRFA. This claim fails because 

Defendant is not a governmental entity within the 

meaning of the VRFA. 

  

By definition, Defendant is not subject to the VRFA. 

The VRFA applies only to a “government entity,” 

defined as “any branch, department, agency, or 

instrumentality of state government,” or “any 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth.” Va. 

Code Ann. § 57–2.02 (2015). Again, Defendant is “a 

political subdivision constituted to operate and 

improve the Metropolitan airports,” and it exists 

“independent of Virginia and its local governments, 

the District of Columbia, and the United States 

Government.” 49 U.S.C. § 49106 (a) (2)–(3) (2006). 

Further, under the Airports Authority Compact, 

Defendant is “a public body corporate and politic and 

independent of all other bodies” and is “independent 

of the Commonwealth and its local political 

subdivisions.” Va. Code Ann. §§ 5.1–153; 5.1–156 (A); 

5.1–156 (B) (2015). 

  

The record presents no evidence to support 

Plaintiff’s contention that routine Airports Authority 

personnel decisions constitute actions under state 

law. There is no other state law, rule or regulation 

allegedly violated in this case. Defendant is entitled 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000040&cite=VASTS57-2.02&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000040&cite=VASTS57-2.02&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000040&cite=VASTS57-2.02&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000040&cite=VASTS57-2.02&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=49USCAS49106&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=SP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_8b3b0000958a4
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000040&cite=VASTS5.1-153&originatingDoc=I2650f070b1e311e6ac07a76176915fee&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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to summary judgment as to Count IV. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 

It appearing to the Court that Plaintiff fails to state 

a claim of discrimination, summary judgment should 

be granted for all four counts. Defendant’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment should be granted. 

  

An appropriate order shall issue. 

  

Slip Copy, 2016 WL 6892103 
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APPENDIX C 

FILED FEBRUARY 23, 2017 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT 

No. 16-1330 

(1:15-cv-00792-CMH-IDD) 

SUSAN H. ABELES, 

Plaintiff – Appellant, 

v. 

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS 

AUTHORITY, Defendant – Appellee,  

and JULIA HODGE; VALERIE O'HARA, 

Defendants. 

THE AMERICAN JEWISH COMMITTEE; THE 

NATIONAL JEWISH COMMISSION ON LAW AND 

PUBLIC AFFAIRS; THE BECKET FUND FOR 

RELIGIOUS LIBERTY 

 Amici Supporting Appellant 

ORDER 

The court denies the petition for rehearing and 

rehearing en banc. No judge requested a poll under 

Fed. R. App. P. 35 on the petition for rehearing en 

banc.  

 

Entered at the direction of the panel: Judge 

Wilkinson, Judge Shedd and Judge Duncan.  

 

For the Court  

/s/ Patricia S. Connor, Clerk  
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APPENDIX D 

 

Supreme Court of the United States 

Office of the Clerk 

Washington, DC 20543-0001 

 

Mr. Nathan Lewin 

Lewin & Lewin, LLP 

888 17th Street, NW 

4th Floor 

Washington, DC 20006 

 

Re: Susan H. Abeles 

 v. Metropolitan Washington Airports 

 Authority 

 Application No. 16A1070 

 

Dear Mr. Lewin: 

 

     The application for an extension of time within 

which to file a petition for a writ of certiorari in the 

above-entitled case has been present to The Chief 

Justice, who on May 4, 2017, extended the time to 

and including July 23, 2017. 

 

     The letter has been sent to those designated on 

the attached notification list. 

 

    Sincerely, 

      

    Scott S. Harris, Clerk 

 

    By s/Jacob C. Travers 

    Case Analyst 
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APPENDIX E 

 

Directive               HR-002 

 

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 

 

ABSENCE AND LEAVE PROGRAM 

 

 

All Employees              MA-500 

                12/2006 

*   *   *   *   * 

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

*   *   *   *   * 

2.8 Granting Annual Leave 

a. Requests for Annual Leave. Except in 

emergencies, use of annual leave will be requested 

and approved in advance of the absence by 

completion of a Leave Application form (PE-26) or by 

an exchange of e-mails between the employee and 

supervisor. In emergency situations, employees must 

notify their leave approving official of the need for 

leave before or as soon as possible (normally within 1 

hour) after they are scheduled to report for duty. At 

the time of the request, the employee will be advised 

whether or not the leave is approved. 
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APPENDIX F 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 

PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 

42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j)  

The term “religion” includes all aspects of religious 

observance and practice, as well as belief, unless an 

employer demonstrates that he is unable to 

reasonably accommodate to an employee’s or 

prospective employee’s religious observance or 

practice without undue hardship on the conduct of 

the employer’s business. 

 

42 U.S.C. §1983 

Every person who, under color of any statute, 

ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State 

or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or 

causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United 

States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof 

to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or 

immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, 

shall be liable to the party injured in an action at 

law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for 

redress, except that in any action brought against a 

judicial officer for an act or omission taken in such 

officer’s judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not 

be granted unless a declaratory decree was violated 

or declaratory relief was unavailable. For the 

purposes of this section, any Act of Congress 

applicable exclusively to the District of Columbia 

shall be considered to be a statute of the District of 

Columbia. 
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42 U.S.C. § 2000bb  

(a) FINDINGS — THE Congress finds that—(1) the 

framers of the Constitution, recognizing free exercise 

of religion as an unalienable right, secured its 

protection in the First Amendment to the 

Constitution; (2) laws “neutral” toward religion may 

burden religious exercise as surely as laws intended 

to interfere with religious exercise; (3) governments 

should not substantially burden religious exercise 

without compelling justification; (4) in Employment 
Division v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872 (1990) the Supreme 

Court virtually eliminated the requirement that the 

government justify burdens on religious exercise 

imposed by laws neutral toward religion; and (5) the 

compelling interest test as set forth in prior Federal 

court rulings is a workable test for striking sensible 

balances between religious liberty and competing 

prior governmental interests. 

(b) PURPOSES — The purposes of this chapter are— 

(1) to restore the compelling interest test as set forth 

in Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398 (1963) and 

Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205 (1972) and to 

guarantee its application in all cases where free 

exercise of religion is substantially burdened; and 

(2) to provide a claim or defense to persons whose 

religious exercise is substantially burdened by 

government. 

42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1  

(a) In general – Government shall not substantially 

burden a person’s exercise of religion even if the 

burden results from a rule of general applicability, 

except as provided in subsection (b) of this section. 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/494-872
https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/374-398
https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/406-205
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(b) Exception – Government may substantially 

burden a person’s exercise of religion only if it 

demonstrates that application of the burden to the 

person—(1) is in furtherance of a compelling 

governmental interest; and (2) is the least restrictive 

means of furthering that compelling governmental 

interest. 

(c) Judicial relief – A person whose religious exercise 

has been burdened in violation of this section may 

assert that violation as a claim or defense in a 

judicial proceeding and obtain appropriate relief 

against a government. Standing to assert a claim or 

defense under this section shall be governed by the 

general rules of standing under article III of the 

Constitution. 

42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-2  

As used in this chapter—(1) the term “government” 

includes a branch, department, agency, 

instrumentality, and official (or other person acting 

under color of law) of the United States, or of a 

covered entity; (2) the term “covered entity” means 

the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico, and each territory and possession of the 

United States; (3) the term “demonstrates” means 

meets the burdens of going forward with the 

evidence and of persuasion; and (4) the term 

“exercise of religion” means religious exercise, as 

defined in section 2000cc–5 of this title. 

42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-3 

(a) In general – This chapter applies to all Federal 

law, and the implementation of that law, whether 

statutory or otherwise, and whether adopted before 

or after November 16, 1993. 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/42/2000cc-5
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(b) Rule of construction – Federal statutory law 

adopted after November 16, 1993, is subject to this 

chapter unless such law explicitly excludes such 

application by reference to this chapter. 

(c) Religious belief unaffected — Nothing in this 

chapter shall be construed to authorize any govern-

ment to burden any religious belief. 

42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-4 

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to affect, 

interpret, or in any way address that portion of the 

First Amendment prohibiting laws respecting the 

establishment of religion (referred to in this section 

as the “Establishment Clause”). Granting govern-

ment funding, benefits, or exemptions, to the extent 

permissible under the Establishment Clause, shall 

not constitute a violation of this chapter. As used in 

this section, the term “granting”, used with respect 

to government funding, benefits, or exemptions, does 

not include the denial of government funding, 

benefits, or exemptions. 
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